FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
8/23/2022 3:15 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON 4 8/24/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON 3/24/2

F131

CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>101199-7</u> COA No. 82846-1-I

PREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGT	
STATE OF WASHINGTON,	
Appellant,	
V.	
PAUL CHASE,	
Petitioner.	
PETITION FOR REVIEW	

OLIVER R. DAVIS Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Paul Chase was the defendant in Snohomish County No. 14-1-00413-8, and the appellant in COA No. 82846-1-I (decision issued July 25, 2022) (Appx.).

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Chase seeks Supreme Court review of the Court of Appeals decision which wrongly ruled that the trial court was justified in denying his motion for new counsel for purposes of his restitution and community service hearings, the denial of which violated his right to counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED ON REVIEW

1. Mr. Chase's 2021 motion was made during post-plea litigation that was ongoing, and during which – as the trial judge itself recognized – the defense failed to timely present crucial documentation. Mr. Chase rightly complained, even before this time, that certain failures were repeatedly occurring

and resulted in a complete breakdown of the working relationship between client and counsel. The litigation continued until June 2021. Can the motion for a new lawyer be rejected as "untimely"?

2. A trustful, communicative, and properly functioning working relationship between attorney and client is vital to the defendant's right to a lawyer. Did the trial court fail to make an adequate inquiry into Mr. Chase's claims, and is reversal thus required, including because of the complete, irreconcilable breakdown of that relationship that was plainly shown regardless of the trial court's inadequate questioning?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. <u>Facts.</u> The underlying background facts of the case are set forth in Mr. Chase's Appellant's Opening Brief. <u>See</u>

AOB, at pp. 1-3. Mr. Chase owned Red Leaf Construction, a building contracting company. CP 260-61. The company was an ongoing concern – i.e., a lawful, operating enterprise, and was fully registered with the Department of Revenue. CP

262. However, a state investigator, Liz Gilman, accused the business of showing no payments of state sales tax from 2007 to 2010, despite "showing deposits in their business bank account at Banner Bank," as determined by a Department of Revenue audit. CP 262-63. The Department contacted the company to discuss the issue of sales tax remittance. CP 264-265.

Mr. Chase, as he was entitled to do, disputed the accusation of non-payment of sales tax, informing the State early on, seeking to show that the State should not convert the matter to criminal charges, because the particular construction projects in question had involved specific, provable contracts that assigned the ultimate responsibility for sales tax to the building owners. See 2/5/21RP at 455-68. Mr. Chase explained that the building projects his company completed during these years were with entities that arranged to withhold state sales tax, and to make the tax payments to the State directly, because Red Leaf was a newly-established

contractor. See 2/5/21RP at 351. For any large, influential corporation, this matter would simply be a question of determining if discrepancies existed, as they frequently do under the complex web of state tax laws. Red Leaf, owned by Mr. Chase and his wife Lynette Chase, was treated differently.

The State rejected Mr. Chase's explanations, and in 2014, Mr. Chase was charged with complicity to theft based on claims that the business had failed to pay state sales tax on amounts received on four construction projects. CP 244, 258, 260.

Ms. Chase, the bookkeeper for the business, passed away on September 8, 2019. CP 225; 4/16/21RP at 455-56, 3/19/21RP(pm) at 441-43. Her testimony had never been preserved as Mr. Chase repeatedly urged his counsel to do. Mr. Chase's wife, and business partner in the contracting business, passed away before Mr. Chase argues that his counsel failed to preserve her testimony by deposition at his insistence.

3/19/21RP RP at 385 (Mr. Chase's testimony that counsel "never once deposed what was going to be a key witness for the

State and myself, my now deceased ex-wife that was originally [implicated in the claims]." The absence of Ms. Chase's knowledge of the company's contracts and accounts was a material loss in Mr. Chase's ability to explain the business arrangements with its customers, a highly pertinent question in the hearings. See, e.g., 3/19/21RP at 432-34.

In October, the State secured Mr. Chase's guilty plea to second degree theft, along with an agreement from Mr. Chase that he would be liable for restitution amounts on the four contracts, to the extent, if any, that amounts were proved, and that he would not seek to withdraw his plea. 10/4/19RP at 3-7; CP 228, 238-41.

At sentencing on December 19, 2019, the prosecutor said that no jail time need be imposed, pursuant to the parties' agreed recommendation; however, the trial court sentenced Mr. Chase to 20 days confinement, converted to 160 hours of community service, to be completed by May 1, 2020. CP 212; 12/9/19RP at 20-26. The court ordered that the community

service hours would be converted back to jail time if not completed by May 1. CP 212, 217.

- 2. Motion for new counsel. As described <u>supra</u> and herein, because of counsel's failures leading to an inability to maintain even a semblance of a working relationship with his client to defend the post-plea issues in the case, Mr. Chase could no longer work with counsel and his relationship with counsel was one of lack of faith and distrust. But the trial court denied Mr. Chase's motion, deeming it untimely and contrary to counsel's general good performance during the overall criminal case. 3/19/21RP(am) at 382-83.
- 3. Ruling on restitution. In an oral ruling on April 16, 2021, and in a letter decision issued on June 11, 2021, the trial court found that Mr. Chase owed the State of Washington total amounts of restitution of \$26,933.41. CP 13-16; 4/16/21RP at 454-68.

E. ARGUMENT

SUPREME COURT REVIEW OF MR. CHASE'S CASE IS WARRANTED UNDER RAP 13.4(b)(3).

1. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Criminal defendants have the constitutional right to assistance of counsel in their defense. U.S. Const., amend. VI (guaranteeing that, "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right ... to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence."); Const. art. I, § 22; Strickland v. Washington, supra, 466 U.S. at 670. In this case, the Court of Appeals described Mr. Chase's motion for new appointed counsel as "lastminute." Appx., at p. 1. Mr. Chase argues that the Court of Appeals wrongly affirmed the trial court's ruling that his motion for a new lawyer was untimely, and did not merit substitute counsel.

The facts of what Mr. Chase holds was a deficient default of his trial counsel was indeed evident as early as December of

2018 of not before. Statement of Additional Grounds, at p. 2 The court record proves that as early as a month prior to the March 19 hearing, on which, following a span of lengthily spaced out hearings on the restitution issue, the court determined it would deny the motion, as done by ruling on April 16. These proceedings went forward on the topic as early as February. See 2/5/19RP at 372. The record reveals that the core of Mr. Chase's motion - the failure of counsel to effectively communicate with Mr. Chase about evidence he repeatedly told counsel was helpful to his case, and the resulting breakdown in trust and the lawyer/client relationship was evident. 2/5/19RP at 372. It resulted in understandable displeasure of the trial court, highly justified. At one juncture, Mr. Chase noted that he had given his counsel important documents and emails five months previously, and in that context, even the trial judge rebuked the defense for not submitting these materials earlier. 2/5/19RP at 372.

THE WITNESS [Mr. Chase]: I submitted this document to [counsel].

THE COURT: When?

THE WITNESS: Five months ago. He lost track of it. I did have a conversation with him during the lunch time break. He did say he lost track of it, but I do have it where I sent it to him. So I am trying to -- Judge, I understand your frustration --

THE COURT: Mr. Chase, I don't think you understand my frustration. It was almost a year ago that I gave a very express order in this case for documents to be provided well in advance of our restitution hearing. The State complied. You did not. We have had what, three or four restitution hearings sessions in this case. It seems that new documents come in each one. I am genuinely interested in receiving all valuable information in this case. But the lack of follow through by the parties in this case makes it very difficult to actually complete this hearing[.]

2/5/19RP at 372. As set forth in Mr. Chase's Opening Brief, this incident exemplified the irreconcilable conflict by a failure to communicate effectively to offer evidence secured by great effort by Mr. Chase showing that the Chases' were not financially responsible for the amounts the State claimed. This

is a constitutional question. As Mr. Chase argued to the intermediate court,

In his written motion, Mr. Chase explained that he believed appointment of new counsel was warranted, and necessary, and he raised several factual issues. CP 104-06. According to Mr. Chase, his counsel had not provided discovery documents to the State which would have borne substantially on the question of restitution. CP 105. Crucially, counsel had also failed with regard to proof of Mr. Chase's community service by informing him that his community service activities would be deemed acceptable by the trial court. CP 105, at p. 2.

Appellant's Opening Brief, at pp. 4-5. Mr. Chase's Statement of Additional Grounds pursuant to RAP 10.10 similarly notes that the breakdown in the required relationship between lawyer and client was created by counsel's failure or unwillingness to submit documentary evidence on the question of dollar restitution, but also when counsel assured Mr. Chase that his

¹ Mr. Chase's Statement of Additional Grounds supports the argument on appeal of a complete breakdown between counsel and client, noting multiple events in the years leading to the restitution trial in which he argues his

community service hours - necessarily completed in non-traditional means in online classes during the pandemic, a scourge which risked the health of his elderly parents - would be accepted by the trial court. Mr. Chase was entitled to new counsel. The breakdown in the attorney and client relationship impinged on Mr. Chase's Sixth Amendment right to representation, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

In addition, the Court of Appeals notes a difference between the entitlement to representation when the defendant is given a court-appointed lawyer, compared to a defendant who can afford to hire private counsel.

present case.

counsel failed to properly submit documentation and prove the authenticity of documents originally digitally sent by email, and when counsel did communicate, he miscommunicated about community service. See SAG, at pp. 2-4. Mr. Chase remains entitled to file a Personal Restraint Petition, using that and all available documentation and sworn affidavits to address the different issue of ineffective assistance under Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984), and RCW 10.73.090 within one year from the issuance of the mandate in the

A criminal defendant who pays for his own attorney generally has a right to counsel of his choice. State v. Roth, 75 Wn. App. 808, 824, 881 P.2d 268 (1994). But an indigent defendant has no right to choose his court appointed attorney and must show good cause before the trial court will discharge and substitute counsel. [State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 733-34, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1008, 118 S. Ct. 1193, 140 L. Ed. 2d 323 (1998)].

Appx., at pp. 4-5. Nonetheless, Mr. Chase is impelled to contend that in a fundamental sense, the right to counsel cannot be denied him as it was here. See McCoy v. Court of Appeals of Wisconsin, Dist. 1, 486 U.S. 429, 435, 108 S.Ct. 1895, 100 L.Ed.2d 440 (1988) ("an indigent defendant has the same right to effective representation by an active advocate as a defendant who can afford to retain counsel of his or her choice.") (discussion in context of Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 744, 18 L.Ed.2d 493, 87 S.Ct. 1396 (1967)). Under any standard, Mr. Chase could not be saddled with a counsel with whom he had an irreconcilable conflict, and where there was a complete breakdown in communication between the attorney

and the defendant. State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 733-34, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997).

This case presents significant questions regarding the defendant's constitutional right to representation. Again, review, by the Supreme Court of this State, is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

(2). Applicable legal standard.

Substitution of counsel is required where there is (1) a conflict of interest, (2) an irreconcilable conflict, or (3) a complete breakdown in communication between the attorney and the defendant. State v. Stenson, supra, 132 Wn.2d at 733-34.

(3). Court's ruling.

The trial court denied Mr. Chase's motion. The court reviewed the procedural history of the case, noting that the substantive question of guilt had been litigated for several years, including an interlocutory appeal. 3/19/21RP(am) at 390-91. The court also stated, in broad terms, that defense counsel

had been "actively engaged in all stages of the restitution proceedings." 3/19/21RP(am) at 392-93. However, the court ruled that Mr. Chase's motion was untimely, and "does not rise to the level of requiring court action to appoint another attorney to represent you in this case." 3/19/21RP(am) at 395-96.

(4). The trial court erred in denying new counsel, requiring automatic reversal.

When reviewing a trial court's refusal to appoint new counsel, courts consider: (1) the extent of the conflict, (2) the adequacy of the trial court's inquiry, and (3) the timeliness of the motion. A court abuses its discretion by failing to make an adequate inquiry into the attorney-client conflict, such as the one Mr. Chase complained of here. <u>United States v. Lott.</u>, 310 F.3d 1231, 1249-50 (10th Cir. 2002); <u>State v. Lopez</u>, 79 Wn. App. 755, 767, 904 P.2d 1179 (1995).

Contrary to the Court of Appeals decision and the Respondent's argument, the motion for new counsel was timely, including as argued supra. See also Appx., at p. 1,

3. Mr. Chase's 2021 motion was made in the latter part of the proceedings following the guilty plea. The trial court did not issue a final ruling on the issue of restitution and community service until June 11, 2021, after multiple pleading and multiple additional hearings. CP 13-16 (written order of June 11, 2021).

Importantly, as to many of these failures, in particular the failure to present restitution evidence, the absence of the constitutionally-required working relationship between client and counsel was demonstrated by Mr. Chase's only learning of continued failures at the March 19, 2021 hearing which the Court of Appeals deemed untimely. Statement of Additional Grounds, at pp. 4-5; see also Part E.1, supra.

This case is not about a client's mere frustrations with counsel. The complete lack of a working relationship as a result of counsel's unwillingness to allow Mr. Chase to contribute to his own defense with pertinent materials, and other defaults, resulted in one obvious conclusion – there was no possibility the lawyer-client relationship could continue in a

manner that would meet the minimum requirements of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel. That complete collapse was attested to by Mr. Chase, who stated he had attempted with his best efforts to work with counsel:

I cannot anymore. He frustrates me to no end. He doesn't respond. I tell him one thing. I provide documents. He doesn't give it to you, does not give it to the Attorney General, doesn't provide me documents just this week. This week alone is the proof. Tuesday he responds to my complaint that he has not talked to me. He sends me an email forwarded from Barbara Serrano, the Attorney General - the Assistant Attorney General, and he had it for 11 days, 11 days that it took him. I am tired. I do not want to be in the same room. I do want him representing me. I do not trust him. He does not have my best interests at hand. Now, it may not be a personal choice, but the man is overloaded. I have been in his office. I know what it is like. He does not have the task, time to handle this case, nor did he. And it has become blatantly obvious on a review of the file that he has missed and made absolute critical mistakes in this case. I want him gone. I do not want to **d**eal with him. That's it.

3/19/21RP(am) at 388-89.

The problem at the Court of Appeals level was its failure to review the quality of the trial court's inquiry, which should

have focused on the specific defaults that broke the attorneyclient relationship. Given Mr. Chase's representations, the trial court failed to make an adequate inquiry, and instead simply made generalizations about the quantity of counsel's work throughout the entire case.

Mr. Chase objects to the Court of Appeals' reasoning that, in effect, where the lawyer in question is a good lawyer who generally fought the case hard, appointment of new counsel can be denied. The Court of Appeals relied on the trial court's assessment that counsel had been active in his representation efforts:

[Chase's counsel] has been actively engaged in all stages of the restitution proceedings, often asking to voir dire the State's witnesses regarding the providence of certain documents that were offered by the State, and challenging the premise upon which the State is seeking restitution.

Appx., at p. 7 (citing trial court's ruling). But a trial lawyer may make active efforts in a case, yet fail to represent the defendant to the level required by Mr. Chase's Sixth

Amendment rights, by making discrete, but significant, material errors. It has long been recognized that, in the context of prejudicial error, even a "single mistake of counsel" is ineffective assistance. (Emphasis added.); see U.S. ex rel. Burton v. Cuyler, 439 F. Supp. 1173, 1189 (E.D. Pa. 1977), aff'd, 582 F.2d 1278 (3d Cir. 1978).

In the case at bar, however, Mr. Chase was aggrieved by multiple failures of counsel and the breakdown that required a new lawyer. As he noted, "[t]ime and time again, [counsel]

failed to provide substantive salient documentation during pretrial discovery, plea negotiations, and even during sentencing and restitution hearings to this Court, and the Attorney General's Office and myself. You, yourself, Your Honor had verbally pointed this out on multiple times for his actions.

3/19/21(am)RP at 383; see Statement of Additional Grounds, at pp. 1-5; see also 3/19/21(am)RP at 384 (Mr. Chase's testimony describing counsel's inability to successfully work with counsel because of repeated failures to introduce factual documents to dispute claims made by the Attorney General's office, including

as to restitution and community service); see also Statement of Additional Grounds, at pp. 4-5 (noting the absence of a communicative working relationship between Mr. Chase exemplified by failures to act on documents bearing on wrongful restitution claims, and requests to ensure validity of community service hours).

These questions not only warrant this Supreme Court taking review of Mr. Chase's case, but on review, should require reversal of the trial court's rulings against Mr.

Chase. As to the financial documents – regarding which the State made the grave and serious accusation that they included emails that were altered - Mr. Chase explained to the trial court how his lawyer had the chance to bring "hard drives and data documents and prior court records to prove me right" on the issue of authenticity, but counsel did not do so, nor did he have the materials forensically analyzed. RP 3/19/21RP(am) at 383-84. Mr. Chase could not work with his counsel in any productive manner because of these failures.

With regard to community service, Mr. Chase's counsel also affirmatively failed him when Mr. Chase carefully sought pre-approval before engaging in the only community service activities he located, attempting to ensure that it would be deemed acceptable by the trial court, given the difficult circumstances of the pandemic that rendered more traditional community service to programs serving marginalized populations in live group settings unavailable and/or unsafe. CP 105. Logan Social Services, a non-profit 501(c)(3) organization where Mr. Chase conscientiously addressed personal improvement, was not approved by the court below as community service. See CP 87; see State v. Law, 154 Wn.2d 85, 106, 110 P.3d 717 (2005).

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