FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/24/2022 10:38 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101199-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

PAUL CHASE,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

SEAN H. WAITE Assistant Attorney General WSBA #45239/OID #91093 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 326-5495

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

On December 18, 2020, the parties appeared before the court and resumed the hearing. RP (12/18/20). The State presented its first witness on the topic of restitution. *Id.* Defense counsel voir dired, cross-examined, and re-cross examined this witness. *Id.* The parties were unable to conclude the evidentiary hearing during the time allotted and the court recessed the hearing. *Id.*

On January 15, 2021, the hearing resumed, with the State calling three additional witnesses. RP (01/05/21). Defense counsel voir dired and cross-examined each witness. *Id.* At defense counsel's request, the State also brought back its witness who testified at the December hearing for additional cross examination. *Id.* at 220-26. The hearing was then recessed again to allow the parties more time to present evidence. *Id.* at 281-82.

On February 5, 2021, the hearing resumed. RP (02/05/21). The State called its fifth witness, whom defense counsel voir

dired and cross-examined. *Id.* at 300, 315, 327. After the State rested, defense counsel recalled this witness. *Id.* at 335. Defense counsel then called Chase to testify. *Id.* at 339. During cross-examination, Chase referred to a document that had never been provided to the State or the trial court. *Id.* at 371. The trial court suspended the hearing to allow the Defense to disclose that document to the court and the State. *Id.* 373. The trial court directed the parties to confer and ultimately scheduled a final hearing for March 19, 2021. *Id.* at 374; RP (03/19/21).

Two days before the final hearing, Chase filed a document entitled "Statement of Paul Chase," in which he wrote that he was making a motion of ineffective counsel. CP 103-07. Chase enumerated twelve generalized complaints, only a few of which related to the restitution hearings. *Id.* The document concludes with Chase requesting a continuance until he is able to replace his attorney. *Id.* at 106.

On March 19, 2021, the parties appeared before the trial court to complete the restitution hearing. RP (03/19/21). The trial

court stated it had reviewed Chase's filing. *Id.* at 381. The trial court then gave Chase an opportunity to further explain his concerns. *Id.* at 382. Chase began by explaining frustrations with his lawyer regarding events that occurred prior to entering his plea. *Id.* at 382-86. Chase explained to the judge that the "big" complaint he had with his counsel was "key trial issues." *Id.* at 386. After several minutes, the court interjected and asked Chase to address his concerns salient to the restitution hearing. *Id.* at 386-87. Chase then largely repeated complaints related to matters prior to his plea. *Id.* at 387-88.

The trial court next inquired of Chase's counsel, who stated that he believed the Rules of Professional Conduct prohibited him from responding to Chase's claims and required termination of his representation. RP (3/19/21) at 389. The State objected to Chase's request as untimely. *Id.* at 390.

Following its review of the pleadings, argument, the record, and its own observations, the trial court denied Chase's motion. RP (3/19/21) at 396. The trial court explained it was

denying Chase's motion as untimely and also on the merits because Chase had not shown good cause to discharge his counsel. *Id*. The trial court informed Chase that if he presented a motion to proceed pro se, the trial court would consider that motion. *Id*. at 396-98. Chase did not move to proceed pro se, instead accepting the trial court's offer for a short recess to consult with his counsel. *Id*. at 399. The hearing then resumed, and Chase's counsel informed the trial court that following consultation with Chase, he no longer had concerns about his ability to continue representation. *Id*. at 400.

On April 16, 2021, the parties appeared before the trial court for its oral ruling regarding the amount of owed restitution. RP (04/19/21). The trial court ordered \$26,933.41 restitution to the Department of Revenue and explained the reasons for that decision. *Id.* Shortly thereafter, the State submitted a proposed written order. CP 13. On June 11, 2021, after giving defense counsel time to review that order consistent with the court rules, the trial court signed and entered the order. CP 13-16. In a

corresponding letter to the parties, the trial court informed Chase that it was not accepting online educational classes as community service hours under Washington law, citing *State v Law*, 154 Wn.2d 85, 106, 110 P.3d 717 (2005). CP 13-14. The trial court scheduled a review hearing for December 10, 2021, to assess Chase's progress toward completing his community service hours. *Id*.

Chase appealed the trial court's restitution order, claiming it erred in denying his motion to discharge his attorney and appoint new counsel. *State v. Chase*, No. 82846-1-I (Wash. Ct. App. Jul. 25, 2022). In a unanimous unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision. *Id*.

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Under RAP 13.4(b), this Court will accept review of a Court of Appeals decision terminating review only when the decision falls under one of four enumerated factors. In his petition, Chase argues that this case falls under RAP 13.4(b)(3), which requires that "a significant question of law under the

Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved[.]" But the Court of Appeals' decision affirming the trial court's denial of the motion for new counsel does not present such a question. Because the opinion properly applied well-settled law to a fact-specific inquiry, this Court should decline further review.

A. The Court of Appeals' Opinion Finding No Abuse of Discretion by the Trial Court Does Not Raise a Significant Constitutional Question

The Court of Appeals properly determined that the trial court appropriately exercised its discretion to deny the motion for new counsel, and that decision does not present a significant constitutional question warranting this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Whether to grant a request to substitute counsel is a matter within the trial court's discretion. *State v. Thompson*, 169 Wn. App. 436, 457, 290 P.3d 996 (2012). A trial court conducts a proper inquiry when it makes a thorough investigation, allows the defendant to present all concerns, and

then provides a sufficient basis for its discretionary ruling. *State* v. *Schaller*, 143 Wn. App. 258, 270, 177 P.3d 1139 (2007).

As the Court of Appeals determined, the trial court's inquiry here was thorough and complete. *Chase*, slip op. at 5-7. First, the trial court reviewed Chase's written filings. RP (03/19/21) at 381. Second, the trial court allowed Chase to further explain his complaints to the court at the hearing. *Id.* at 382. Third, when Chase failed to focus his complaints on the ongoing restitution hearing, the trial court engaged with him and asked him to do so, offering him additional time to present his argument. Id. at 386-87. Fourth, the court engaged in a thorough review of the court file while assessing Chase's motion, a review the court then set forth on the record. Moreover, the trial court discussed its own observations of counsel's representation during the many hearings that had transpired. As the Court of Appeals noted, the trial court detailed its observations that Chase's counsel had "zealously advocated on his behalf throughout the restitution process." *Id.* at 390-91. Based on all of the above, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the trial court's inquiry into Chase's complaints was sufficient. *Chase*, slip op. at 7.

Chase argues that the Court of Appeals "failed to review the quality of the trial court's inquiry." Petition for Review 16-17, 21. But the Court of Appeals' opinion belies this contention. The Court of Appeals dedicated two pages of its opinion to assessing the adequacy of the trial court's inquiry, highlighting several areas of information related to Chase's relationship with his counsel that the trial court considered. *Chase*, slip op. at 5-7. Examples include the trial court's review of the following: Chase's written pleading, in which Chase explained why he believed his attorney was not timely communicating with him; Chase's oral argument, in which he complained further about his relationship with his attorney; and Chase's additional argument after the trial court requested Chase explain his complaints as they impacted his counsel's representation for the ongoing restitution hearing. Id., slip op. at 6. The Court of Appeals

properly applied well-settled case law to conclude that the trial court conducted an appropriate inquiry.

Chase cites, without analysis, to *United States v Adelzo-*Gonzalez, 268 F.3d 772 (9th Cir. 2001), to support his claim that the trial court's inquiry was deficient. Pet. for Review 21-22. In Adelzo-Gonzalez, the defendant moved for new counsel at six weeks, two weeks, and then again two days before his trial. Id. at 777. The defendant, who was Spanish speaking and used an interpreter, explained to the court that his counsel had sworn at and threatened him. Id. at 778. Further, defense counsel explicitly called the defendant a liar in open court, and suggested to the judge that someone was coaching the defendant. *Id.* at 778. The trial court failed to address the serious conflict between counsel and the defendant, such as by inquiring of the interpreter, and instead made perfunctory remarks regarding counsel's competence before denying the motion. *Id*.

Here, however, the Court of Appeals finding that the trial court's inquiry was sufficient is supported by the record. An

adequate inquiry is one by which a trial court obtains sufficient information to reach an informed decision. Thompson, 169 Wn. App. at 461; *United States v. McClendon*, 782 F.2d 785, 789 (9th Cir. 1986). Unlike in Adelzo-Gonzalez, Chase waited until two days before the final of five hearings, spanning over seven months, to make his motion. The record is devoid of any suggestion that Chase's counsel acted with impropriety, let alone hostility. The trial court fully assessed Chase's complaints based on the information it obtained from his pleading, his oral argument, his additional oral argument following the court's engagement, the court file, and the judge's own observations regarding defense counsel's diligent representation over the course of seven years of litigation. The Court of Appeals conclusion is supported by the record.

Therefore, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the trial court had a sufficient basis for reaching an informed conclusion supporting its discretionary ruling. No significant constitutional question is before this Court and further review should be denied.

B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined That Chase's Arguments Regarding Timeliness Failed To Comply with RAP 10.3(a)(6)

As the Court of Appeals determined, Chase cited no legal authority in support of his argument regarding the trial court's ruling that his motion was untimely, and he failed to develop the argument in his brief. Under RAP 10.3(a)(6), the Court of Appeals properly declined to address the argument. Chase, slip op. at 4 n. 6, citing to RAP 10.3(a)(6); see State v. Dennison, 115 Wn.2d 609, 629, 801 P.2d 193 (1990). This Court should decline to grant review in order to address an argument for the first time that Chase failed to adequately brief before the Court of Appeals. See Crystal Ridge Homeowners Ass'n v. City of Bothell, 182 Wn.2d 665, 678, 343 P.3d 746 (2015) (declining to reach argument where party failed to raise it prior to filing its petition for review "aside from a single passing remark in its opening Court of Appeals brief," because "[t]his court generally

does not consider issues, even constitutional ones, raised first in a petition for review[.]").

C. Even if Chase Had Adequately Raised His Timeliness Argument Before the Court of Appeals, It Nonetheless Does Not Warrant This Court's Review

Even if Chase had adequately raised his argument on the trial court's timeliness ruling before the Court of Appeals, that ruling does not warrant this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because it does not present a significant constitutional question.

When considering whether a trial court abused its discretion in denying a request for new counsel, an appellate court will review three factors: (1) the extent of the alleged conflict, (2) the adequacy of the trial court's inquiry, and (3) the timeliness of the request. *In re Pers. Restraint of Stenson*, 142 Wn.2d 710, 723-24, 16 P.3d 1 (2001). Here, as discussed above, the trial court conducted an adequate inquiry into Chase's complaint and the alleged conflict he based it on. The trial court also did not abuse its discretion by finding that Chase's motion

for new counsel, filed two days before the last of five hearings conducted over seven months, was untimely.

Timeliness is a fact-specific inquiry. In *United States v*. Moore, the defendant made several attempts to substitute counsel, the first over a month before trial and the last still two weeks before trial began. 159 F.3d 1154, 1161 (9th Cir. 1998). The reviewing court found the motions timely. *Id.* By contrast, in Stenson, although the defendant twice considered firing his counsel, he did not bring his motion for substitution until after several weeks of jury selection. Stenson, 142 Wn.2d at 717. Calling the motion untimely, the trial court rejected it. *Id.* at 732. On review, this Court affirmed, noting that when the request for change of counsel comes during trial or on the eve of trial, the trial court may, in the exercise of sound discretion, reject the request. Id at 732.

Here, as in *Stenson*, the trial court properly considered the motion's untimeliness before denying. Chase filed his motion only two days before the fifth and final hearing in a lengthy

proceeding devoted to determining an amount of owed restitution. CP 103-07. This was the first and only request Chase made to substitute counsel during seven years of litigation while represented by the same counsel. These hearings spanned an approximately seven-month period following the initial delay, with four days of evidentiary proceedings. These hearings involved days of testimony from six witnesses and submission of numerous exhibits subject to scrutiny by counsel and the trial court. Chase's counsel represented him at each hearing and served as his attorney on the case for approximately seven years. Chase himself recognized that his request required delay, as he incorporated a dual request to continue the hearing. CP 106. The trial court's determination that Chase's motion was untimely is fully supported by the record.

Chase contends that his motion was timely because "[t]he trial court did not issue a final ruling on the issue of restitution and community service until June 11, 2021, after multiple

pleadings and multiple additional hearings." Pet. for Review 15.

His argument lacks merit.

Although the trial court did not enter its written order until June 11, 2021, the March 19, 2021, hearing was the final evidentiary hearing. RP (3/19/21). The only restitution hearing that followed was on April 16, 2021, convened for the sole purpose of the trial court delivering its oral ruling regarding the amount of owed restitution. RP (4/16/21). The State prepared a written order consistent with the trial court's oral ruling and presented it the trial court shortly thereafter. CP 13. The trial court waited to sign the order until defense counsel had time to review it, consistent with the court rules. *Id.* On June 11, 2021, the trial court issued and entered its written order, consistent with its oral ruling delivered April 16, 2021. CP 15-16.

Because no further evidentiary proceedings were held after March 19, 2021, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by determining that Chase's motion, submitted two days prior to the final evidentiary hearing and after the majority of the

evidence had been taken during the proceeding months, was untimely. Substitution of counsel at that time could have undone months of proceedings and caused months of additional delay as new counsel became familiar with the extensive case record and prepared to represent Chase. The date the trial court issued its written order has no bearing on whether Chase's motion for new counsel for the final evidentiary proceeding was timely.

Even if Chase had adequately presented his arguments regarding timeliness before the Court of Appeals, the record demonstrates that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining that his motion for new counsel was untimely, and the trial court's decision does not present a significant constitutional question. Review should be denied.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals properly applied well-settled law to affirm the trial court's denial of Chase's last minute motion to substitute counsel. Nothing in the decision raises a significant constitutional question. Accordingly, this Court should deny Chase's petition for review.

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